

Since January 2020 Elsevier has created a COVID-19 resource centre with free information in English and Mandarin on the novel coronavirus COVID-19. The COVID-19 resource centre is hosted on Elsevier Connect, the company's public news and information website.

Elsevier hereby grants permission to make all its COVID-19-related research that is available on the COVID-19 resource centre - including this research content - immediately available in PubMed Central and other publicly funded repositories, such as the WHO COVID database with rights for unrestricted research re-use and analyses in any form or by any means with acknowledgement of the original source. These permissions are granted for free by Elsevier for as long as the COVID-19 resource centre remains active. Vaccine 40 (2022) 4348-4360

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Vaccine

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/vaccine

Benefit-risk evaluation of COVID-19 vaccination in special population groups of interest



^a Institute of Immunology and Immunotherapy, University of Birmingham, Birmingham B15 2TT, UK

^b Queen Elizabeth Hospital, University Hospitals Birmingham, Birmingham B15 2TH, UK

^c Sorbonne University, INSERM, AP-HP Saint-Antoine Hospital, Paris, France

^d Istituto Europeo di Oncologia, IRCCS, Milan, Italy

^e Department of Oncology and Hemato-Oncology, University of Milan, Milan, Italy

^f Department of Nephrology, Tel-Aviv Sourasky Medical Center, Sackler Faculty of Medicine, Tel-Aviv University, Tel-Aviv, Israel

^g Division of Hepatology, Department of Medicine II, Leipzig University Medical Center, 04103 Leipzig, Germany

h BioNTech SE, Mainz, Germany

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 21 January 2022 Received in revised form 6 May 2022 Accepted 22 May 2022 Available online 27 May 2022

Keywords: COVID-19 Oncology Kidney disease Liver disease Immunocompromised Vaccination Special populations

ABSTRACT

Several population groups display an increased risk of severe disease and mortality following SARS-CoV-2 infection. These include those who are immunocompromised (IC), have a cancer diagnosis, human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection or chronic inflammatory disease including autoimmune disease, primary immunodeficiencies, and those with kidney or liver disease. As such, improved understanding of the course of COVID-19 disease, as well as the efficacy, safety, and benefit-risk profiles of COVID-19 vaccines in these vulnerable groups is paramount in order to inform health policy makers and identify evidence-based vaccination strategies. In this review, we seek to summarize current data, including recommendations by national health authorities, on the impact and benefit-risk profiles of COVID-19 vaccination in these populations. Moving forward, although significant efforts have been made to elucidate and characterize COVID-19 disease course and vaccine responses in these groups, further larger-scale and longer-term evaluation will be instrumental to help further guide management and vaccination strategies, particularly given concerns about waning of vaccine-induced immunity and the recent surge of transmission with SARS-CoV-2 variants of concern.

© 2022 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Intro	Introduction				
2.	Immunocompromised patients					
	2.1. Immune status, mortality, morbidity and clinical presentation					
	2.2. Potential benefits of COVID-19 vaccination					
	2.3. Treatment and immune concerns					
	2.4. Vaccination guidelines and considerations					
	2.5. Clinical data: immunogenicity, reactogenicity and safety		4350			
		2.5.1. Patients with cancer	4351			
		2.5.2. Solid organ transplant recipients	4352			
		2.5.3. Patients living with HIV	4352			
		2.5.4. Patients with chronic inflammatory diseases (including autoimmune diseases)	4353			
		2.5.5. Patients with inborn errors of immunity	4353			
3.	Patients with kidney disease		4353			
	3.1. Mortality, morbidity and clinical presentation					
	3.2. Impact of comorbidities and high-risk groups					

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: shanti.pather@biontech.de (S. Pather).



Review





	3.3.	Potential benefits of vaccination	4354
	3.4.	Treatment and immune concerns	4354
	3.5.	Vaccination guidelines and considerations	4354
	3.6.	Clinical data: immunogenicity, reactogenicity and safety	4354
4.	Patier	nts with liver disease	4354
	4.1.	Mortality, morbidity and clinical presentation	4354
	4.2.	Impact of comorbidities	4354
	4.3.	High-risk groups	4355
	4.4.	Potential benefits of COVID-19 vaccination	4355
	4.5.	Treatment and immune concerns	4355
	4.6.	Vaccination guidelines	4355
	4.7.	Clinical data: immunogenicity, reactogenicity and safety	4355
5.	Conclusions		4355
	5.1.	Vaccine suitability/eligibility	4355
	5.2.	Choice of vaccine platform and additional dosing	4355
	5.3.	Timing of vaccination	4356
	5.4.	Other topics/considerations	4356
	5.5.	Future outlook	4356
	Decla	ration of Competing Interest	4356
	Ackno	owledgements	4356
	Refer	ences	4357

1. Introduction

COVID-19 vaccines have proven of great value in controlling severe COVID-19 within the general population; however, vaccination is inherently complex in high-risk populations due to factors such as immune suppression or overactivation, and vaccines elicit differing responses in terms of efficacy and immunogenicity. The reasons behind this are multifactorial and include the type and severity of the disease(s), patient characteristics (e.g., age and comorbidities), and concomitant therapies. Owing to this complexity, approaches to optimise vaccination strategies in these special populations are of paramount importance. In this review, we discuss the risks associated with COVID-19 infection in these populations, including the impact of comorbidities and treatment recommendations. Populations discussed include patients who are immunocompromised (IC), have a cancer diagnosis, human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection or chronic inflammatory disease including autoimmune disease, primary immunodeficiencies, and those with kidney or liver disease. Discussion of the pediatric population was excluded from this review as this is a unique group requiring an in-depth discussion beyond the scope of this manuscript. Scientific and clinical evidence on COVID-19 vaccination continues to evolve in these groups and as such we provide a summary of current data to support clinical assessment for the benefit-risk evaluation of vaccination, as well as guidance and recommendations on dosing schedules to aid decision-making. We focus on four of the earliest approved vaccines that have been distributed worldwide in a large proportion of the population, namely Ad26.COV2.S (Johnson & Johnson), AZD1222 (Oxford/AstraZeneca), BNT162b2 (Pfizer/BioNTech), and mRNA-1273 (Moderna). Other more recently approved vaccines, i.e., NVX-CoV2373 (Novavax), will be discussed where data is available in these populations. References for this review were identified through searches of PubMed and pre-print servers medRxiv and bioRxiv for English language articles published from 1 December 2019 to 04 April 2022. Additional sources of information included healthcare agency websites, ClinicalTrials.gov and pharmaceutical press releases.

2. Immunocompromised patients

2.1. Immune status, mortality, morbidity and clinical presentation

IC patients include those receiving immunosuppressive therapies (e.g., anti-rejection medication for transplant recipients) and those with cancer, chronic inflammatory diseases (including rheumatoid arthritis and systemic lupus erythematosus) and certain chronic infections such as HIV.[1] Although the spectrum of clinical presentation of COVID-19 in patients who are immunosuppressed may not differ markedly to that seen in the general population,[2] the underlying immunosuppression is often associated with increased disease severity.[3] Studies have shown that some patients with cancer have a higher rate of COVID-19-related death [4–7] and a more severe disease course has been reported.[7,5,6]. Chemotherapy within the last 28 days is a risk factor for mortality [8] and metastatic disease is associated with a 2.4-fold mortality increase.[9]

COVID-19 outcomes are particularly poor in patients with haematological malignancies. Indeed, overall survival rates of around 67% were reported in recipients of stem cell transplantation in the pre-vaccine era.[10] Multiple myeloma and chronic lymphocytic leukaemia also markedly increase the risk of severe COVID-19.[5,11] Solid organ transplant (SOT) recipients require prolonged pharmacological immune suppression to prevent graft rejection and, although symptoms of disease are generally similar to those in non-transplant patients,[12,2] rates of COVID-19related hospitalisation are higher than the general population. [7,12,1] Furthermore, an increased risk of mechanical ventilation or death due to COVID-19 has been reported compared with matched controls.[13]

Medications commonly used to treat chronic inflammatory diseases, including autoimmune diseases, typically target the inflammatory cascade and include agents such as anti-interleukin [IL]-1 or anti-IL-6, as well as glucocorticoids. Of note, dexamethasone and anti-IL-6R therapy are also used to treat severe COVID-19, [14] but do not appear to provide significant protective effect from chronic use.[14,15,5]. Indeed, patients receiving treatment for chronic inflammatory diseases are at higher risk of infection and poor outcomes.[14,15,5]

COVID-19 incidence is higher in patients with autoimmune rheumatic disease, and this may be associated with ongoing treatment in this population as patients are primarily treated with immunosuppressive medications which can reduce the production of neutralizing antibodies, suppress T cell responses or inhibit cytokines, depending on the mode of action.[16]

Patients receiving glucocorticoids have a higher risk of infection,[17] hospitalization, emergency care, and intensive care unit admission.[18,19] Furthermore, those receiving B cell-depleting agents or certain immunosuppressants are at a markedly increased risk of mortality due to COVID-19 (odds ratio: 4.0 with rituximab and 2.2 with immunosuppressants vs methotrexate monotherapy).[20]

HIV infection is also a significant independent risk factor for both critical COVID-19 infection and in-hospital mortality and is seen even in patients living with HIV with well-controlled disease.[21] Comparable clinical evidence for other clinical conditions is currently unclear but almost all patients with IC might be considered to be at risk of more severe COVID-19 disease.[1]

Patients with inborn errors of immunity (IEI; also referred to as primary immunodeficiencies), although a heterogenous population, are a group of special interest particularly with respect to COVID-19 as they are in general known to be more susceptible to infectious diseases due to their immunocompromised status.[22] With regard to COVID-19, a multicenter, retrospective international study in 94 patients with IEI reported that while the majority have a mild course of disease, younger patients present with more severe symptoms and there are higher rates of intensive care unit admission when compared with the general population.[23] Another single-centre report found the rate of death was higher in patients with IEI vs. the general population (25% vs. 10%).[24] A small study showed that patients with IEI with severe or fatal COVID-19 failed to elicit a specific antibody response to SARS-CoV-2 but robust T cell responses were observed. [25] Some specific immunodeficiencies have been reported to be associated with a higher risk of severe COVID-19, e.g., nuclear factor kappa-B subunit 2 deficiency.^[26]

2.2. Potential benefits of COVID-19 vaccination

Given the increased rates of morbidity and mortality for IC patients, there is an urgent need to understand the efficacy of vaccination in this population. This is particularly important as these groups were underrepresented in the initial vaccine trials.

Live-attenuated vaccines are contraindicated in patients with immunodeficiency due to the risk of vaccine-viral replication. However, the currently approved COVID-19 vaccines discussed in this manuscript are not live-attenuated and as such all are appropriate for usage in patients with IC.[27] The immunogenicity of COVID-19 vaccines in patients with IC is a topic of intense investigation. Vaccines appear to induce robust immune responses in patients with solid tumour cancers, [6] but responses in blood cancer are more variable and depend on the nature of the underlying malignancy and intercurrent treatment. Vaccines appear well tolerated in SOT recipients, but more research is required on determinants of vaccine response.[28] Vaccination is recommended for patients living with HIV and immune responses appear comparable to healthy controls for those receiving antiviral therapy who have undetectable viral load and CD4 counts > 200 cell/mm³.[29-31] For patients who require treatment for COVID-19, evaluation should be given to ensure that there are no potential drug-drug interactions.[32] Importantly, however, although COVID-19 vaccines are somewhat less immunogenic in this population, and might provide a lower level of clinical protection compared with the general population, they still appear likely to offer a considerable degree of protection against severe disease or death.[3334]

2.3. Treatment and immune concerns

The mainstay of treatments used for severe SARS-CoV-2 infection are immunomodulatory or immunosuppressive (e.g., dexamethasone, tocilizumab),[35] and as such this offers an additional clinical challenge in those who are already immunocompromised. Importantly, monoclonal SARS-CoV-2 spike-specific antibody infusions can reduce the mortality rate in patients who are seronegative and require hospitalisation for COVID-19,[36] and IC patients who do not elicit a robust SARS-CoV-2 immune response may shed the virus over an extended period and thus be a source of transmission and driver of new variants.[37]

Novel oral antiviral drugs to treat COVID-19 offer a promising alternative, particularly for vulnerable IC patients where other treatments may exacerbate the disease or where vaccination provides lower efficacy than the general population. Molnupiravir, an orally active RdRp inhibitor, has shown promising results in Phase II [38] and III [39] trials, reducing the risk of hospitalization and death in unvaccinated individuals, [3839]. In a Phase II to III clinical trial, another oral antiviral drug, Nirmatrelvir, reduced the risk of COVID-19 disease progression by 89% vs. placebo in patients with at high risk of severe disease, including those with immunosuppressive disease. Both Molnupiravir and Nirmatrelvir have been approved for emergency use by both the EMA [40] and FDA. [41,42]A recent observational study identified multiple factors which increase the likelihood of vaccine failure in IC patients, such as treatment with anti-metabolites, radiation therapy and lung transplantation, and showed that humoral immune responses are dependent on the type of immunosuppressive condition.[43] As an example, the probability of a vaccine response was reduced in those who had lung transplants within a year of vaccination, potentially due to the high level of immunosuppression. [43]

2.4. Vaccination guidelines and considerations

Clinical trials examining COVID-19 vaccine safety and efficacy largely excluded IC populations and broadly comprised healthy participants or those with stable pre-existing medical conditions, although some chronic inflammatory diseases were included.[44-46] Owing to the lack of evidence in these populations, COVID-19 vaccine labels define risks and warnings for use (including patients with solid organ or blood/marrow transplant, people living with HIV who are not well controlled on therapy, and patients taking immunosuppressive medications), and state that IC patients may have a diminished vaccination response. [47-50] Multiple global organizations have released guidance on vaccination of IC patients, suggesting prioritization of this group. Due to the inadequate immune responses following two vaccine doses in some IC patients, three doses are now considered the primary regimen for mRNA vaccines in this population and additional (fourth) doses are now recommended by major global agencies and authorities in IC patients to boost immunity.[51] Table 1 summarizes key guidance from national public health agencies and associations regarding vaccination and additional dosing.

2.5. Clinical data: immunogenicity, reactogenicity and safety

A US study comparing fully vaccinated (98% with BNT162b2 or mRNA-1273) healthy healthcare workers (n = 107) and IC patients (n = 489) found seropositivity was reduced in IC patients, particularly those with SOT (37%) and haematological malignancies (55%),

Summary of recommendations from national guidelines/public health bodies*.

Population	General COVID-19 vaccination guidance/considerations	COVID-19 additional dose/booster	Regulatory approvals
		guidance/considerations	
Immunocompromised	 CDC and WHO state individuals may choose to be vaccinated if they are part of a group that is recommended for vaccination [1,130] Active cancer and those on treatment NCCN guidance recommends that patients should be prioritized for vaccination, but vaccination should be delayed by ≥ 3 months following HSCT or engineered cellular therapy (e.g., CART) to maximize therapy [131] NIH states that COVID-19 vaccination of patients receiving aggressive CT may need to be delayed until neutrophil cell counts recover [132] Patients undergoing transplant surgery NIH states vaccination should be completed ≥ 2 weeks prior to SOT or started 1 month after a SOT [132] Patients with autoimmune and inflammatory rheumatic diseases ACR states the benefits of COVID-19 vaccination outweigh the risks of new-onset autoimmunity, flares or disease worsening. Patients should receive both vaccine doses of multidose vaccines, even if there are non-serious adverse events associated with the first dose.[126] EULAR guidance states that vaccinations should preferably be given when the disease is in a quiet phase; it is also preferable to vaccinate before planned immunosuppression if feasible. A 	 CDC recommends patients who are moderately to severely immunocompro- mised (cancer, stem cell or organ transplant, rheumatol- ogy on immunosuppressive or immunomodulators, advanced or untreated HIV, moderate or severe primary immunodefi- ciency) should receive an addi- tional dose at ≥ 28 days after the second dose [122] UK JCVI recommends a third booster dose in severely immunocompromised patients with leukaemia, advanced HIV and recent organ transplants [133] 	 EMA has approved a third primary dose of BNT162b2 or mRNA-1273 for severely IC patients ≥ 12 years of age (administered ≥ 28 days after the second dose) [39,37] FDA has approved a third primary dose of BNT162b2 or mRNA-1273 for individuals ≥ 12 years of age who have undergone SOT, or are diagnosed with conditions that are considered to have an equivalent level of immunocompromise (administered ≥ 28 days after the second dose)[127,128]
Kidney disease	 decrease in medication is not advised [127] ERA-EDTA states that the benefits of COVID-19 vaccines outweigh any theoretical risk in patients with kidney disease and recommended immediate prioritisation of COVID-19 vaccine distribution for patients undergoing dialysis [135] CDC states that vaccination at the dialysis clinic is recommended, owing to risks associated with seeking out separate venues [136] UK joint renal societies state that patients with stage 5 CKD not receiving replacement therapy, and patients with kidney disease receiving immunosuppressive treatment, are considered clinically extremely vulnerable and are therefore a prioring for COVID 10 vaccination [127] 	• See above for recommendations	s regarding IC patients.
Liver disease	 EASL guidelines on COVID-19 vaccination in patients with liver disease note that although vaccines may be less effective in individuals with decompensated cirrhosis, there is no evi- dence that the vaccines are harmful in these patients; thus, they should be prioritised for vaccination [138] The American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases rec- ommends prioritising patients with cirrhosis, liver cancer, patients receiving immunosuppression such as liver trans- plant recipients and living liver donors for COVID-19 vaccina- tion [139] 	• See above for recommendations	s regarding IC patients.

*Guidance, recommendations, and regulatory approvals are updated regularly. Please refer to the relevant sources for the most up-to-date information.

compared to healthy controls (98%). Seropositivity among patients with solid neoplasms and autoimmune disease was also lower (82% and 84% respectively) although patients with wellcontrolled HIV had good responses (95%).[43] Data from a cohort study in 604,035 individuals showed that patients with IC have a higher rate of COVID-19 breakthrough infection following a twodose vaccine regimen when compared to immunocompetent individuals, although this was still substantially less when compared with those who were unvaccinated. [52] The same trend was also observed in a study conducted specifically in patients with cancer. [53] As such, vaccine response rates in patients with IC are variable and more studies are required to clearly determine the degree to which immunity is diminished (refer to Galmiche et al. 2021 for a recent systematic review).[54] Immune responses to COVID-19 vaccines differ between individuals depending on underlying IC conditions and the degree of immune impairment. The following sections describe studies examining these specific populations and include safety data where available.

2.5.1. Patients with cancer

Vaccine-induced immune responses are reduced in patients with solid tumours who are undergoing current chemotherapy but appear well maintained during disease remission. In 102 patients undergoing systemic treatment for cancer who received BNT162b2 vaccination, 90% were seropositive for anti-SARS-CoV-2 spike protein antibodies \geq 12 days following the second dose compared with 100% of healthy control subjects (n = 78). Chemotherapy combined with immunotherapy was the only factor associated with low IgG titres.[55] In certain circumstances, vaccination may be recommended to be delayed for patients undergoing intercurrent therapy with immunosuppressive drugs such as cytotoxic chemotherapy (e.g., those receiving cytotoxic CT).[56]

A prospective, longitudinal observational study (SOAP-02, n = 151) of patients with cancer showed that after the second dose of BNT162b2, vaccine-elicited antibodies were present in 18/19 (95%) of patients with solid cancers.[57] Patients with haematological cancers had a lower antibody response (8/44 [18%] patients

after a single dose and 3/5 [60%] of patient after a second dose) but larger studies are required to elucidate immunogenicity in this group further. [57,54] The OCTAVE (Observational Cohort Trial-Tcells Antibodies and Vaccine Efficacy in SARS-CoV-2) trial is one of the largest trials to date to investigate vaccination in immune vulnerable patients and reported that all patients with cancer (breast and lung, n = 139) had anti-spike seroconversion following the second vaccine dose.[58] A major unanswered question for patients with cancer is whether the use of specific drugs impacts vaccine immunogenicity. Findings from the VOICE trial, a prospective, multicentre, non-inferiority trial carried out in three centres (n = 791) enrolling participants without cancer and those with cancer receiving different treatments, showed that the majority of patients with cancer develop an adequate antibody response. However, 9/131 (7%) of the patients treated with immunotherapy, 37/229 (16%) of the patients treated with chemotherapy, and 16/143 (11%) of the patients treated with chemoimmunotherapy had suboptimal response or did not respond compared with 1/240 (<1%) participants without cancer, which gives a justification for a third vaccine dose in this group.[59] In the CAPTURE study, after the first vaccine dose only 39% of patients developed SARS-CoV-2 neutralising antibodies and 44% had detectable specific T cells, while after full vaccination 83% of patients with cancer developed neutralising antibodies and 79 % T-cell responses. Importantly, only 53% of patients developed specific neutralising antibodies against the delta variant, suggesting a lower efficacy towards this variant of concern.[60] Patients with a hematological malignancy are at particular risk of a suboptimal vaccine response. This is particularly true for patients with B cell chronic lymphoid leukemia, where 33% fail to sero-covert after dual vaccination. [61] Another study showed that 46% of haematological cancer patients failed to produce antibodies following two doses of a COVID-19 mRNA vaccine. [62] Immune responses are also poor in patients with acute leukaemia whilst in contrast, conditions such as chronic myeloid leukaemia do not appear to impair vaccine responses.[63] Vaccines are recommended as early as 3 months after stem cell transplantation in these groups, but response rates remain poor.[64]

Omicron (B.1.1.529), which has a higher transmissibility than the wild-type and other variants, [65] currently accounts for the majority of COVID-19 cases worldwide.[66] Vaccination with the primary (two dose) course is known to be less robust against Omicron (B.1.1.529) than for the wild-type in the general/immunocompetent population, [67] and additional (booster) doses are required to improve immunity. Data characterizing immune responses following vaccination in immunocompromised and other special populations is lacking, but some data is emerging to further support a third dose in these populations. One study examined the impact of booster vaccination on immune responses in patients with cancer with different types of solid tumours (n = 50) and reported that those who received a booster mRNA dose had a significantly greater neutralizing capacity against the Omicron (B.1.1.529) variant in comparison to those who received two doses where neutralizing antibody titres were reduced by 21.3-fold (p < 0.01).[68] A study in patients with monoclonal gammopathies at different stages of disease, including multiple myeloma (n = 40), showed that neutralizing antibody responses against Omicron (B.1.1.529) were reduced compared to the wild-type strain following the primary vaccine regimen, but were improved following a booster dose. [69]

2.5.2. Solid organ transplant recipients

Studies over several years have shown that immune responses are impaired in SOT recipients [70] and, as such, it is not unexpected that poor antibody responses to COVID-19 mRNA vaccination have been observed among SOT recipients. In the COVID-19 Antibody Testing of Recipients of Solid Organ Transplants study (N = 436), only 17% of participants developed a measurable antispike protein antibody response to a single dose of COVID-19 mRNA vaccine; younger participants, those not receiving antimetabolite maintenance immunosuppression, and those who received mRNA-1273, were more likely to mount an antibody response.[71] Studies conducted in specific SOT populations including liver [72,73], kidney, [74–76], heart [77], and lung [78] transplant recipients have shown impaired vaccine responses. A study conducted in Israel in patients undergoing liver transplantation (n = 80) showed dampened vaccine responses; only 48% develpost-vaccination, oped neutralizing antibodies with immunogenicity negatively impacted by older age, poorer renal function, and mycophenolate mofetil/high-dose steroid treatment. [72] In heart and lung transplant recipients (n = 34), both anti-spike antibody and T cell responses were significantly blunted following the first and second doses of mRNA vaccination (at 21 and 28 days, respectively) and after a longer time period of observation (120 days).[79]

A major risk factor for poor antibody responses in kidney transplant patients is the number and type of immunosuppressive therapies. [74] As such, vaccination prior to transplantation may result in a more sustained humoral vaccination response.[80] Consistent with findings in liver and kidney transplant recipients, patients receiving a lung transplant also had a substantially diminished humoral response following two doses of BNT162b2, with age and concomitant therapies (such as antimetabolites) being associated with poorer responses.[78] Improved immunogenicity has been shown in SOT patients in response to incremental vaccine delivery. Kamar et al. reported that seroprevalence increased from 0%, 4%, and 40% before the first, second, and third doses, respectively, and reached 68% 4 weeks after the third dose.[81] Antibody titres were significantly higher after the third dose, increasing from 36 to 2,676 [P < 0.001]), and there were no reports of SARS-CoV-2 infection or acute rejection episodes following receipt of three doses.[81,82] Similarly, a randomized control trial with mRNA-1273 in SOT patients demonstrated high immunogenicity (median viral neutralisation: 71% vs. 13%: mRNA-1273 vs placebo, respectively). Local and systemic events were more frequent in those receiving mRNA-1273, but these were mild-to-moderate, and acute transplant rejection was not reported.[83] Similar findings have been shown in patients who have undergone kidney transplantation and there is hope that this approach may go some way to negate the impact of antimetabolite and steroid treatment on immunogenicity.[84,85] A third vaccine dose in liver transplant recipients was able to increase immune responses by 44%, although mycophenolate mofetil treatment still predisposes patients to poorer responses.[86] The tolerability of repeated vaccine dosage is also an important consideration. A prospective study in SOT patients (n = 741) reported that reactogenicity of mRNA vaccines in this population was similar to that in the initial clinical trials, with injection site pain, fatigue, and headaches being the most commonly described symptoms.[87]

As mentioned previously, variants of concern have become a topic of significant importance, particularly with the emergence of Omicron (B.1.1.529), and the efficacy afforded by the vaccines against such variants currently remains unclear. One study in kidney transplant recipients has shown that none of the patients included had neutralizing antibodies against Omicron (B.1.1.529) after the second vaccine dose, and this increased to only 12% of patients after the third dose.[87]

2.5.3. Patients living with HIV

Immune response to vaccines in persons living with HIV have been shown to be dependent on the level of CD4 + T cells. With advances in anti-retroviral therapy, the majority of persons living with HIV achieve normalization of CD4 counts; however, even in these patients, subtle defects in immune function may persist and impair vaccine response. In a study examining HIV + individuals (n = 121) who had received the first dose of an mRNA vaccine (mRNA-1273 in the HIV + subgroups, BNT162b2 in the HIV- control group), those with CD4 counts > 250 cells/mm³ had an antireceptor binding domain IgG response similar to the general population, although HIV + individuals with the lowest CD4 + counts (<250 cells/mm³) had a significantly blunted response.[88] In a prospective cohort study which enrolled patients living with HIV (with or without anti-retroviral therapy) with stable viral suppression and robust CD4 + T cell counts, two doses of mRNA-1273 (4 weeks apart) gave rise to humoral immune response at the same level as those without HIV infection.[89] HIV + individuals with CD4 counts > 350 cells/mm³ also demonstrate humoral and cellular responses similar to control groups after ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 vaccination, with no increase in adverse events frequency.[31] The NVX-CoV2373 COVID-19 vaccine, which in late 2021 and early 2022 was granted emergency use authorization for use in the general population by multiple regulatory authorities including the EMA, [90] is a protein subunit vaccine which could offer an alternative in certain populations. Data is still limited in special populations, but the pivotal Phase 2a/b randomized control trial of NVX-CoV2373 (n = 2,684) included both individuals who were HIV-negative (94%) and a small number of individuals living with medically stable HIV (6%).[91] The trial was not powered to assess efficacy in the HIV population; however, vaccine efficacy estimates (against confirmed symptomatic mild, moderate, or severe COVID-19) was lower when the analysis was conducted on HIV-negative and HIV-positive individuals (49.4%, 95% CI 6.1-72.8) when compared to HIV-negative individuals only (60.1%, 95% CI 19.9-80.1). [91]

2.5.4. Patients with chronic inflammatory diseases (including autoimmune diseases)

Concerns associated with vaccination in chronic inflammatory diseases (including autoimmune diseases) include reduced vaccine efficacy and exacerbation/flare of disease. Current data suggests that patients with inflammatory disorders typically do elicit humoral immune responses but these are often reduced in those undergoing B-cell depletion therapy.[92–96] A prospective study in adults with chronic inflammatory diseases (COVaRiPAD) showed that glucocorticoids and B-cell-depleting therapies impaired COVID-19 mRNA vaccine immunogenicity, with 10-fold and 36fold reductions in humoral response versus controls, respectively. [92] Similarly, the RituxiVac open-label trial, which examined mRNA COVID-19 vaccination in IC patients (including those with vasculitis, B-cell lymphoma and rheumatoid arthritis), mirrored these results and recommended that a personalized approach to vaccination, e.g., based on peripheral B-cell count, may be appropriate especially those who are undergoing intensive treatment. [95] In two cohorts of patients with chronic inflammatory disease, treatment with B-cell depleting agents or non-biological agents (particularly methotrexate) were associated with lower immune responses to BNT162b2.[93] Evidence from a small study (n = 13) showed that, although humoral antibody responses may be blunted, T cell-mediated immune responses are mounted in rituximab-treated inflammatory rheumatic diseases who have B cell depletion and further illustrates the importance of vaccination in this group, even when humoral responses are impaired. [96] Similarly, abatacept moderately impairs vaccine immunogenicity and thus timing of treatment, particularly if combined with methotrexate, so should be considered on a case-by-case basis to improve vaccine responses.[97] Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), which usually requires immunosuppression with immunomodulators (e.g., azathioprine) or anti-tumour necrosis

factor drugs (e.g., infliximab), is associated with attenuated antibody responses following vaccination with a single dose of either BNT162b2 or AZD1222 vaccines; however, a second dose may lead to higher humoral immune responses.[94] Results from the OCTAVE trial showed that only 8/29 (27.6%) of ANCA-associated vasculitis patients seroconverted following a second vaccine dose, below that of healthy controls (100%).[58] A nationwide study (MAJIK-SFR Registry) assessed the impact of targeted disease modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (DMARDs) on immune response to vaccination in 113 patients with rheumatoid arthritis (87%) or psoriatic arthritis (27%). The proportion of patients with detectable anti-spike antibodies following vaccination remained high (88%). Lack of response was associated with older age, suggesting that these patients should undergo serological assessments to ascertain if a third dose is required. [98] Data on safety of COVID-19 vaccines in the autoimmune setting are limited: however, a questionnaire assessing adverse events in autoimmune vs control patients (n = 2,440) reported that these were comparable to controls after the first vaccination, which was independent of the type of vaccine, and that COVID-19 vaccination does not trigger disease flares in this group.[99]

2.5.5. Patients with inborn errors of immunity

Given the heterogeneity of patients with IEIs, vaccine responses against infectious diseases in general are known to differ but, whilst caution should be given for live-attenuated vaccines, vaccination in this group is often recommended other than in cases where they are unlikely to have benefit such as in patients with severe antibody deficiency. [100] With respect to COVID-19, patients with IEI represent an important group of interest due to the possible increased risk of severe disease [23] and, although it is not possible to provide general recommendations due to the heterogeneity of this group, understanding the benefit-risk profile of COVID-19 vaccination is needed to formulate the most appropriate treatment and vaccine strategies. A small study investigating the cellular and humoral responses following two mRNA vaccine doses showed that the majority of patients (18/22; 82%) were positive for neutralizing anti-spike antibodies and a tolerable safety profile was observed.[101] The same study also reported that older patients with common variable immunodeficiency mounted lower antibody responses, suggesting additional booster doses may be relevant for this population. [101] Another study in patients with IEIs with functional B-cell defects showed stimulation of receptor binding domain-specific IgG responses following mRNA vaccination (16/33; 48%), but only 2 of these patients had neutralizing antibodies. However, the majority of patients elicited vaccineinduced T cell responses (24/31; 77%), which may lead to reduced COVID-19 severity in this group, and the vaccines had a tolerable safety profile.[102] Additional studies are required to further define the recommendations of COVID-19 therapies and vaccination in this group.

3. Patients with kidney disease

3.1. Mortality, morbidity and clinical presentation

SARS-CoV-2 infection is primarily known to cause respiratory complications, but other organs, including the kidney, are also known to be severely impacted. Correspondingly, patients with kidney disease and those requiring dialysis are an extremely vulnerable group with additional clinical challenges.[103] As shown by several large meta-analyses, the clinical evolution of COVID-19 in patients with kidney impairment is more severe than compared to the general population and has higher mortality rates. [104,105] In patients on haemodialysis and kidney transplant

recipients, the case-fatality/mortality rates are around 15% and 19 to 23%, respectively.[106,107]. When compared to patients without chronic kidney disease (CKD), patients with pre-existing CKD have an increased risk of severe COVID-19 disease and death [108,109], and mortality rates correlate with worsening renal injury.[110]

3.2. Impact of comorbidities and high-risk groups

The majority of end-stage renal disease (ESRD) patients, who are on chronic dialysis treatments, have comorbid conditions associated with a higher risk of COVID-19 risk (e.g., obesity, diabetes and cardiac disease [111]); however, kidney disease is also classed as an independent risk factor for severe outcomes of COVID-19 when data is adjusted for comorbid conditions. [111] Dialysis treatment necessitates frequent hospital and health centre visits thus patients undergoing this treatment have limited ability to selfisolate and are at particularly high risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection (5 to 20-fold vs. the general population).[112] Furthermore, patients undergoing dialysis have an increased risk of death (30-130% more likely vs. hospitalised patients without CKD) [112] and longer hospital stays. [113,112] Diabetic nephropathy also puts patients in the higher risk category, having a higher probability of hospitalization and death vs patients with CKD alone.[114] Immunosuppressive therapies make recipients of kidney transplants more vulnerable to a severe course of disease [see section on IC].[115]

3.3. Potential benefits of vaccination

Although immune dysregulation in patients with kidney disease may lead to reduced protection from COVID-19 vaccination compared with the general population, it is likely that vaccination will provide some level of protection, with potential to reduce mortality, disease severity and risk of infection.

3.4. Treatment and immune concerns

CKD patients commonly have an increased risk of infectious complications as they are routinely managed with immunosuppressive therapies.[116] In CKD patients who are hospitalized with severe COVID-19, reports have shown that they have disruptions in cellular immunity such as an elevated monocyte-to-lymphocyte ratio.[117] Key considerations for treating patients with kidney disease who have COVID-19 include drug-drug interactions and nephrotoxicity of drug combinations, as well as dialytic clearance in those undergoing dialysis which will lead to excessive clearance of drugs and possibly dampened efficacy.[116,118] A potential underlying cause of the susceptibility of ESRD patients to SARS-CoV-2 infection is an impaired adaptive and innate immune system; it has been reported that the function of immune cells, such as T lymphocytes and natural killer cells, is altered in ESRD patients leading to dysregulated immunity.[111]

3.5. Vaccination guidelines and considerations

Vaccination, including a third booster does, is recommended to be prioritized in patients with kidney disease. Refer to Table 1 for a summary of current recommendations.

3.6. Clinical data: immunogenicity, reactogenicity and safety

In a prospective study (n = 154), humoral immune responses at 4 weeks after a single dose of BNT162b2 were induced in only 43% of COVID-19-naïve patients receiving haemodialysis. The patients who did not respond initially continued without a response at

8 weeks. A delayed immune response was seen in those with previous COVID-19 infection. [119] However, in an observational study in SARS-CoV-2-seronegative haemodialysis patients who received both doses of BNT162b2, the proportion of seropositive patients increased after the second dose to 97.9% compared to 42.0% after the first dose. [120] Consistent with trials in the general population, adverse events were mild-to-moderate, with injection site pain being the most frequent local reaction. [120] In line with this, interim results from the OCTAVE trial showed that immunogenicity following a second dose was comparable to heathy controls; 94.6% and 83.3% of patients with ESRD requiring haemodialysis without or with immunosuppression, respectively, mounted an antibody response.[58] In a study which included a large population of patients receiving dialysis (n = 2,099), a third of patients receiving dialysis and fully vaccinated with Ad26.COV2.S demonstrated lower immune responses.[121] With regard to vaccine effectiveness against variants of concern, namely Omicron, data is scarce in this population. One recent study showed that three doses is necessary to provide protection against infection; vaccine effectiveness against Omicron infection in patients who had received a booster vaccine was 47% with AZD1222 and 66% with BNT162b2. No protection against infection was observed in those individuals who had received the two dose regimen. [122] Safety data remains limited in patients with kidney disease and inclusion of patients in COVID-19 clinical trials was low, and many excluded patients with CKD.[123] The COViNEPH project, a prospective cohort study, examined 190 dialysis patients in comparison to matched controls and reported that reactogenicity and safety following vaccination with BNT162b2 was similar.[124] The REnal Patients COVID-19 VACcination Immune Response (RECOVAC IR) study is a prospective, controlled, multicenter study which is ongoing and will assess safety of mRNA-1273 in CKD patients.[125]

4. Patients with liver disease

4.1. Mortality, morbidity and clinical presentation

A meta-analysis showed that acute liver injury is common in COVID-19 and associated with poor outcomes. Elevated alanine aminotransferase and aspartate aminotransferase, which is a characteristic of hepatocyte damage, is also associated with extended hospitalization and may be predictors of poor outcomes in this population.[126] Pre-existing chronic liver disease (CLD) in patients who have SARS-CoV-2 infection relates to higher incidence of liver injury, hospitalisation and mortality rates than the general population.[127-130] In patients hospitalized for COVID-19, a notable 20% have CLD and their mortality risk is markedly increased (approximately 3-fold) compared to patients without CLD.[129] An international registry study (n = 745) comparing CLD patients with non-CLD patients reported that SARS-CoV-2 infection can cause complications of liver disease; patients with cirrhosis may have a substantial reduction of liver function and elevated rates of acute hepatic decompensation (46%).[131] Of note, patients presenting with acute hepatic decompensation did not always have respiratory symptoms at COVID-19 diagnosis which underlines that high rates of SARS-CoV-2 testing should be carried out in this setting.[131]

4.2. Impact of comorbidities

The clinical consequences and pathogenesis of COVID-19 disease in patients with acute liver injury and liver function has been an important concern particularly due to the risk factors associated with these conditions such as obesity, diabetes, malnutrition, and older age. In a multicentre study comparing cirrhosis patients with matched controls, the Charlson Comorbidity Index was the only reported independent mortality predictor, which points to a central role of multiple comorbidities in determining COVID-19 severity in patients with liver disease.[132] However, CLD and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease appeared to be independent risk factors for intensive care unit admission and mechanical ventilation in a study which controlled for comorbidities.[128]

4.3. High-risk groups

Pre-existing cirrhosis corresponds to more pronounced rates of severe disease and mortality when compared to patients without cirrhosis.[131,132] Additionally, clinical complications and disease deterioration are more common in patients with cirrhosis as compared to those with CLD without cirrhosis.[127] There have been studies showing that non-alcoholic fatty liver disease is linked to progressive COVID-19 disease, increased risk of hospitalisation and prolonged SARS-CoV-2 shedding.[133,134] Further, immunosuppressive medications in liver transplant recipients may cause an increased risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection and COVID-19 severity [see section on IC patients].[135] Other possible risk groups include patients with chronic hepatitis B or C disease (adjusted odds ratios for COVID-19 infection vs patients without CLD of 4.37 and 8.93, respectively [both P < 0.001]).[130] Some reports have shown that patients with well-controlled chronic viral hepatitis or autoimmune liver disease do not have an increased risk of poorer COVID-19 outcomes.

4.4. Potential benefits of COVID-19 vaccination

Immune impairment in cirrhosis patients is known to cause hyporesponsiveness to other types of vaccines (e.g., hepatitis B vaccine [136]). Despite this, the potential benefits of COVID-19 vaccination likely outweigh the risks given the serious health sequalae from COVID-19 in this setting.[137,138] Evidence to date does not suggest that COVID-19 vaccines will be have detrimental impacts on patients with CLD with decompensated cirrhosis and those on immunosuppressive medications.[139]

4.5. Treatment and immune concerns

Drug-related multiorgan damage, including liver damage, is a concern in all patients with COVID-19 [135] and surveillance of drug-induced liver injury is paramount in those with existing liver damage. CLD, especially if associated with cirrhosis, results in diminished innate and humoral immunity which may result in higher vulnerability to SARS-CoV-2 infection. [135,131] The SARS-CoV-2-induced inflammatory storm may be heightened in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease who are known to have perturbed immune systems, such as high neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratios.[140]

4.6. Vaccination guidelines

Refer to Table 1 for a summary of current recommendations.

4.7. Clinical data: immunogenicity, reactogenicity and safety

Preliminary data from OCTAVE has shown that 51% of patients with liver disease (including patients with liver cirrhosis, undergoing liver transplant and those with autoimmune liver disease on immune suppressive therapy) have lower levels of antibody reactivity compared to healthy controls.[58] However, despite this reduced antibody response, reports have shown that patients with liver cirrhosis who are fully vaccinated with mRNA or adenoviral vaccines have reduced rates of COVID-19 infection, hospitalization,

or death. [141,142] Although these rates may be lower than reported in trials in the general population, these preliminary data warrant vaccination in this population. In a study in Israel among healthcare professionals (n = 719), BNT162b2 was shown to be effective in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, with antibody responses in 98.5% of participants; however, overall effectiveness reduced with older age. This may warrant a third dose of BNT162b2 in this population.[143] Long-term safety data is not yet available for COVID-19 vaccination in liver disease patients but emerging reports demonstrate that vaccines may be both effective and tolerable.[138] The known benefits of robust immunogenicity mounted by vaccination, the safety data available from the randomized control trials and real-world evidence, and to protect against COVID-19 infection should be weighed against the risks and patients should be assessed for suitability on an individual basis.[138] Prospective registries should be utilized in future to further understand the safety profiles of currently available vaccines in this population.[138]

5. Conclusions

The special populations described in this review are at high risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection, and initial data from immunogenicity and safety studies support the use of COVID-19 vaccines in virtually all groups, with the benefits generally outweighing the risks. Emerging ongoing clinical trial data will provide further information on the immune response to vaccination and safety data in these special populations and inform on the most optimal vaccine strategies. Real-world evidence studies carried out in countries where vaccines are widely available will further help with understanding vaccination in these groups. Additionally, a deeper understanding of the immunological responses is needed; some studies to date report only on seropositivity or negativity as opposed to neutralizing anti-spike IgG antibodies levels post-vaccination, and the latter may provide a more accurate reflection of duration of protective immune response.

5.1. Vaccine suitability/eligibility

Healthcare professionals should carefully assess the benefits and risks of COVID-19 vaccination on a case-by-case basis and prioritize suitable patients without contraindications. Consideration should also be given in terms of the incidence of infection in the community at the time of vaccination, and persons (e.g., health workers and relatives) who have frequent contact with vulnerable patients should be vaccinated where possible.[144] In those who are vaccinated, adjustment of current medications in terms of dose and timing with vaccination may be appropriate for some patients and should be considered alongside relevant guidance (see previous sections). Disease control following vaccination should be closely observed and delay in vaccination due to current immunosuppressive treatments to avoid an attenuated response should be carefully assessed; if incidence in the population is high, protection with vaccination earlier could still be more beneficial than a delay to allow a more robust immune response.[144]

5.2. Choice of vaccine platform and additional dosing

The mRNA and replication-deficient adenoviral platforms, as well as the protein-based NVX-CoV2373 vaccine (although data is more limited), are all known to have a tolerable safety profile and give rise to potent immune responses among the general population.[44–46,145,91] They have differing mode-of-actions and immunological properties, but all give rise to balanced humoral and cellular immunity.[44–46,145,91]

Due to the blunted immune responses to vaccines in some special populations, such as kidney disease, and the emergence of highly transmissible SARS-CoV-2 variants, vaccines with a higher potency may be preferable. The ability of each vaccine to protect against infection is likely influenced by multiple factors including age, disease type and stage, performance status, and current therapies. In patients where a robust immune response fails to be mounted, strategies include homogenous (same vaccine) or may include heterogeneous (different platform) boosting.[146] Additional doses of mRNA vaccines as part of the primary series are recommended in moderate-to-severely immunocompromised patients by the CDC (which recommends four doses)[27]. The EMA has approved a third primary dose of BNT162b2 or mRNA-1273 for severely immunocompromised patients > 12 years of age, [49,47] and, similarly, the FDA's approval states that those eligible for a third primary dose of BNT162b2 or mRNA-1273 are individuals > 12 years of age who have undergone SOT, or are diagnosed with conditions that are considered to have an equivalent level of immunocompromise.[147,148] Heterologous boosting could result in longer-lasting stimulation of cellular responses by stimulating different immune pathways in the general population and such a strategy has been shown to be tolerable and immunogenic in randomized trials conducted in the general population [149] and regulatory bodies and public health bodies, including the CDC, recommend heterologous booster dosing in IC individuals.[27]

5.3. Timing of vaccination

Most vaccination plans for patients in the special populations discussed here will require a personalized approach, and the optimal time window may heavily depend on concomitant therapies. As described above, immunosuppressive therapies, such as rituximab, have been shown to dampen vaccine effectiveness. Temporary cessation of such therapies or use of other therapies could be considered, with the possibility to return to the standard therapy following vaccination. Alternatively, COVID-19 vaccination could occur prior to or at the end of a rituximab treatment cycle. In SOT patients, completion of vaccination prior to transplantation may avoid the decrease in vaccine immune response caused by immunosuppressive therapies.[150] Temporary reduction or cessation of mycophenolate mofetil could be considered on a caseby-case basis and with evaluation of risk of graft rejection.

5.4. Other topics/considerations

The possibility of simultaneous infection with influenza and SARS-CoV-2, which can exacerbate disease complications, particularly in high-risk groups, could be avoided by administering the influenza vaccine to IC patients.[151] There is currently limited data available for paediatric patients within these special populations, who may also be more prone to more severe COVID-19 disease vs. the general paediatric population.[152] The data is continually evolving on vaccination strategies in special populations, and there are still currently inconsistencies and lack of consensus among health organizations with regard best management practices. For example, in the US, methotrexate is not administered one week following vaccination [153] whereas in Europe, EULAR do not recommend withholding vaccination at this time.[154] In patients with haematological diseases, there is a paucity of data on humoral immune responses, particularly those who are receiving rituximab where antibody responses are drastically diminished 6 months following vaccination.

5.5. Future outlook

Although multiple studies have begun to elucidate the efficacy and safety of COVID-19 vaccines among the special populations described in this manuscript, there are persistent gaps in our understanding of vaccination in these groups. More detailed characterization of both cellular and humoral immunity, particularly in those populations where immunogenicity is particularly low and/ or where concomitant therapy impacts responses, such as SOT recipients, will help further inform on the most optimal vaccine strategies for these patients. Indeed, in some patient groups, such as those with IEIs, whilst lower vaccine-induced neutralizing antibody responses are observed when compared with healthy controls, robust antigen-specific T cell response are mounted.[155] Memory T and B cells have recently been shown to contribute to the neutralizing breadth of antibodies against the Omicron (B.1.1.529) variant. [156] and antigen-specific T cells are known to be a correlate of mRNA-based vaccine efficacy, particularly against severe disease, [157] highlighting that data on the immune dynamics and mechanisms of protection following vaccination is important to enable further development of vaccines and to guide their use. With waning immunity among the general population following vaccination and the emergence of SARS-CoV-2 variants, additional dosing has become paramount in both the general population and particularly these special populations. Additional dosing or an extended primary series is particularly pertinent in IC patients, where viral loads can remain high over a longer time period, prolonging the window of opportunity for the emergence of SARS-CoV-2 variants.[158] Protection against some variants, such as Omicron (B.1.1.529), may wane faster [159], and additional booster doses beyond the primary regimen have become a key vaccination strategy with the emergence of this partial immune escape variant to improve immune protection given by the primary regimens which is insufficient against Omicron. [160,161] Variantadapted vaccines to target virus evolution, including Omicronspecific vaccines, are being investigated in clinical trials. [162,163] Furthermore, additional data investigating adenoviral vector vaccines, which is currently lacking, will help to further characterize the efficacy and safety vaccines in vulnerable groups.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare the following financial interests/personal relationships which may be considered as potential competing interests: TB has received honoraria from Abbvie, Gilead, GSK, Janssen, MSD/Merck, Novartis, and Roche. GC has received honoraria from BMS, Pfizer, Novartis, Lilly, Roche, Astra Zeneca, Daichii Sankyo, Exact Sciences, Seagen, Gilead, Celcuity for taking part in advisory boards. FB reports fees from AstraZeneca, Boehringer, Bone Therapeutics, CellProthera, Expanscience, Galapagos, Gilead, Grunenthal, GSK, Eli Lilly, Merck Sereno, MSD, Nordic, Nordic Bioscience, Novartis, Pfizer, Roche, Sandoz, Sanofi, Servier, UCB, Peptinov, 4P Pharma, 4Moving Biotech, grants from TRB Chemedica, outside the submitted work. SP receives a salary from BioNTech SE. PM and AG have nothing to disclose.

Acknowledgements

Medical writing support, including assisting authors with the development of the outline and initial draft and incorporation of comments was provided by Prime Global, and Camilla West, PhD, from BioNTech SE, according to Good Publication Practice guidelines. BioNTech SE provided funding to Prime Global for the development of the initial outline and literature search.

References

- Prasath S. Centers for Disease Control and Protection. COVID-19 Vaccines for Moderately to Severely Immunocompromised People [Internet] [cited 2021 Oct 19]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019ncov/vaccines/recommendations/immuno.html.
- [2] Moosavi SA, Mashhadiagha A, Motazedian N, Hashemazar A, Hoveidaei AH, Bolignano D. COVID-19 clinical manifestations and treatment strategies among solid-organ recipients, A systematic review of cases. Transplant infectious disease: an official journal of the Transplantation. Society 2020;22 (6). https://doi.org/10.1111/tid.v22.610.1111/tid.13427.
- [3] Li J, Huang DQ, Zou B, Yang H, Hui WZ, Rui F, et al. Epidemiology of COVID-19, A systematic review and meta-analysis of clinical characteristics, risk factors, and outcomes. J Med Virol 2021;93(3):1449–58.
- [4] Ribas A, Sengupta R, Locke T, Zaidi SK, Campbell KM, Carethers JM, et al. Priority COVID-19 Vaccination for Patients with Cancer while Vaccine Supply Is Limited. Cancer discovery 2021;11(2):233–6.
- [5] Fung M, Babik JM. COVID-19 in Immunocompromised Hosts, What We Know So Far. Clinical Infectious Diseases: Official Publication Infectious Diseases Society of America 2021;72(2):340–50. eng.
- [6] Hwang JK, Zhang T, Wang AZ, Li Z. COVID-19 vaccines for patients with cancer, Benefits likely outweigh risks. J Hematol Oncol 2021;14(1). <u>https:// doi.org/10.1186/s13045-021-01046-w</u>.
- [7] Belsky JA, Tullius BP, Lamb MG, Sayegh R, Stanek JR, Auletta JJ. COVID-19 in immunocompromised patients, A systematic review of cancer, hematopoietic cell and solid organ transplant patients. J Infect 2021;82(3):329–38. eng.
- [8] Wang B, Huang Y. Immunotherapy or other anti-cancer treatments and risk of exacerbation and mortality in cancer patients with COVID-19, A systematic review and meta-analysis. Oncoimmunology 2020;9(1). <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1080/2162402X.2020.1824646</u>.
- [9] Chavez-MacGregor M, Lei X, Zhao H, Scheet P, Giordano SH. Evaluation of COVID-19 Mortality and Adverse Outcomes in US Patients With or Without Cancer. JAMA Oncol 2022;8(1):69. <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.1001/iamaoncol.2021.5148.
- [10] Sharma A, Bhatt NS, St Martin A, Abid MB, Bloomquist J, Chemaly RF, et al. Clinical characteristics and outcomes of COVID-19 in haematopoietic stemcell transplantation recipients, An observational cohort study. The Lancet Haematology 2021;8(3):e185–93.
- [11] Başcı S, Ata N, Altuntaş F, Yiğenoğlu TN, Dal MS, Korkmaz S, et al. Patients with hematologic cancers are more vulnerable to COVID-19 compared to patients with solid cancers. Internal Emergency Med 1–5. eng.
- [12] Raja MA, Mendoza MA, Villavicencio A, Anjan S, Reynolds JM, Kittipibul V, et al. COVID-19 in solid organ transplant recipients, A systematic review and meta-analysis of current literature. Transplant Rev (Orlando Fla) 2021;35 (1):100588. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trre.2020.100588</u>.
- [13] Nair V, Jandovitz N, Hirsch JS, Abate M, Satapathy SK, Roth N, et al. An early experience on the effect of solid organ transplant status on hospitalized COVID-19 patients. Am J Transplant 2021;21(7):2522–31.
- [14] Putman M, Chock YPE, Tam H, Kim AHJ, Sattui SE, Berenbaum F, et al. Antirheumatic Disease Therapies for the Treatment of COVID-19, A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Arthrit Rheumatol (Hoboken, NJ) 2021;73(1):36–47.
- [15] Roongta R, Ghosh A. Managing rheumatoid arthritis during COVID-19. Clin Rheumatol 2020;39(11):3237–44. eng.
- [16] Akiyama S, Hamdeh S, Micic D, Sakuraba A. Prevalence and clinical outcomes of COVID-19 in patients with autoimmune diseases, A systematic review and meta-analysis. Ann Rheumatic Dis 2020. eng.
- [17] Favalli EG, Bugatti S, Klersy C, Biggioggero M, Rossi S, De Lucia O, et al. Impact of corticosteroids and immunosuppressive therapies on symptomatic SARS-CoV-2 infection in a large cohort of patients with chronic inflammatory arthritis. Arthrit Res Therapy 2020;22(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13075-020-02395-6</u>.
- [18] Hasseli R, Mueller-Ladner U, Hoyer BF, Krause A, Lorenz H-M, Pfeil A, et al. Older age, comorbidity, glucocorticoid use and disease activity are risk factors for COVID-19 hospitalisation in patients with inflammatory rheumatic and musculoskeletal diseases. RMD Open 2021;7(1):e001464. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1136/rmdopen-2020-001464</u>.
- [19] Marques CDL, Kakehasi AM, Pinheiro MM, Mota LMH, Albuquerque CP, Silva CR, et al. High levels of immunosuppression are related to unfavourable outcomes in hospitalised patients with rheumatic diseases and COVID-19, First results of ReumaCoV Brasil registry. RMD Open 2021;7(1):e001461. https://doi.org/10.1136/rmdopen-2020-001461.
- [20] Strangfeld A, Schäfer M, Gianfrancesco MA, Lawson-Tovey S, Liew JW, Ljung L, et al. Factors associated with COVID-19-related death in people with rheumatic diseases: results from the COVID-19 Global Rheumatology Alliance physician-reported registry. Ann Rheum Dis 2021;80(7):930–42.
- [21] Barbera LK, Kamis KF, Rowan SE, Davis AJ, Shehata S, Carlson JJ, et al. HIV and COVID-19, Review of clinical course and outcomes. HIV Res Clin Pract 2021;22(4):102–18. eng.
- [22] Yamashita M, Inoue K, Okano T, Morio T. Inborn errors of immunity-recent advances in research on the pathogenesis. Inflamm Regenerat 2021;41(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s41232-021-00159-6</u>.

- [23] Meyts I, Bucciol G, Quinti I, Neven B, Fischer A, Seoane E, et al. Coronavirus disease 2019 in patients with inborn errors of immunity, An international study. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2021;147(2):520–31.
- [24] Ho H-e, Mathew S, Peluso MJ, Cunningham-Rundles C. Clinical outcomes and features of COVID-19 in patients with primary immunodeficiencies in New York City. J Allergy Clin Immunol: Practice 2021;9(1):490–493.e2.
- [25] Steiner S, Schwarz T, Corman VM, Gebert L, Kleinschmidt MC, Wald A, et al. SARS-CoV-2 T Cell Response in Severe and Fatal COVID-19 in Primary Antibody Deficiency Patients Without Specific Humoral Immunity. Front Immunol 2022;13:840126. eng.
- [26] Abraham RS, Marshall JM, Kuehn HS, Rueda CM, Gibbs A, Guider W, et al. Severe SARS-CoV-2 disease in the context of a NF-κB2 loss-of-function pathogenic variant. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2021;147(2):532–544.e1.
- [27] Centers for Disease Control and Protection. Interim Clinical Considerations for Use of COVID-19 Vaccines Currently Approved or Authorized in the United States [Internet] [cited 2021 Oct 19]. Available from: https://www. cdc.gov/vaccines/covid-19/clinical-considerations/covid-19-vaccines-us. html
- [28] Aslam S, Goldstein DR, Vos R, Gelman AE, Kittleson MM, Wolfe C, et al. COVID-19 vaccination in our transplant recipients: The time is now. J Heart Lung Transplant 2021;40(3):169–71.
- [29] Levy I, Wieder-Finesod A, Litchevsky V, Biber A, Indenbaum V, Olmer L, et al. Immunogenicity and safety of the BNT162b2 mRNA COVID-19 vaccine in people living with HIV-1. Clin Microbiol Infect. eng.
- [30] Woldemeskel BA, Karaba AH, Garliss CC, Beck EJ, Wang KH, Laeyendecker O, et al. The BNT162b2 mRNA Vaccine Elicits Robust Humoral and Cellular Immune Responses in People Living with HIV. Clin Infect Dis: Off Publ Infect Dis Soc America; 2021. eng.
- [31] Frater J, Ewer KJ, Ogbe A, Pace M, Adele S, Adland E, et al. Safety and immunogenicity of the ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 (AZD1222) vaccine against SARS-CoV-2 in HIV infection, A single-arm substudy of a phase 2/3 clinical trial. Lancet HIV 2021;8(8):e474–e485. eng.
- [32] National Institutes of Health. Special Considerations in People With HIV [Internet] [cited 2021 Oct 19]. Available from: https:// www.covid19treatmentguidelines.nih.gov/special-populations/hiv/.
- [33] Sonani B, Aslam F, Goyal A, Patel J, Bansal P. COVID-19 vaccination in immunocompromised patients. Clin Rheumatol 2021;40(2):797–8. eng.
- [34] Baker D, Roberts CAK, Pryce G, Kang AS, Marta M, Reyes S, et al. COVID-19 vaccine-readiness for anti-CD20-depleting therapy in autoimmune diseases. Clin Exp Immunol 2020;202(2):149–61.
- [35] National Institutes of Health. Clinical Management Summary [Internet] [cited 2021 Oct 19]. Available from: https://files.covid19treatmentguidelines. nih.gov/guidelines/section/section_100.pdf.
- [36] RECOVERY Collaborative Group, Horby P, Mafham M, Peto L, Campbell M, Pessoa-Amorim G, et al. Casirivimab and imdevimab in patients admitted to hospital with COVID-19 (RECOVERY): a randomised, controlled, open-label, platform trial [Internet]. medRxiv. Available from: https://www.medrxiv. org/content/10.1101/2021.06.15.21258542v1.
- [37] Aydillo T, Gonzalez-keiche AS, Aslam S, van de Guchte A, Khan Z, Obla A, et al. Shedding of Viable SARS-CoV-2 after Immunosuppressive Therapy for Cancer. New England J Med 2020;383(26):2586–8.
- [38] Fischer WA, Eron JJ, Holman W, Cohen MS, Fang L, Szewczyk LJ, et al. A phase 2a clinical trial of molnupiravir in patients with COVID-19 shows accelerated SARS-CoV-2 RNA clearance and elimination of infectious virus. Sci Transl Med 2022;14(628). https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.abl7430.
- [39] Jayk Bernal A, Gomes da Silva MM, Musungaie DB, Kovalchuk E, Gonzalez A, Delos Reyes V, et al. Molnupiravir for Oral Treatment of Covid-19 in Nonhospitalized Patients. New England J Med 2022;386(6):509–20.
- [40] European Medicines Agency. Paxlovid Summary of Product Characteristics [Internet]. Available from: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/ product-information/paxlovid-epar-product-information_en.pdf.
- [41] US Food and Drug Administration. Fact sheet for healthcare providers: Emergency Use Authorization for Paxlovid [Internet]. Available from: https:// www.fda.gov/media/155050/download.
- [42] US Food and Drug Administration. Fact sheet for healthcare providers: Emergency Use Authorization for Lagevrio[™] (molnupiravir) capsules [Internet]. Available from: https://www.fda.gov/media/155054/download.
- [43] Haidar G, Agha M, Lukanski A, Linstrum K, Troyan R, Bilderback A, et al. Immunogenicity of COVID-19 Vaccination in Immunocompromised Patients: An Observational, Prospective Cohort Study Interim Analysis [Internet] [cited 2021 0ct 19]. Available from: https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/ 2021.06.28.21259576014#p-5.
- [44] Polack FP, Thomas SJ, Kitchin N, Absalon J, Gurtman A, Lockhart S, et al. Safety and Efficacy of the BNT162b2 mRNA Covid-19 Vaccine. New England J Med 2020;383(27):2603–15.
- [45] Voysey M, Clemens SAC, Madhi SA, Weckx LY, Folegatti PM, Aley PK, et al. Safety and efficacy of the ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 vaccine (AZD1222) against SARS-CoV-2: an interim analysis of four randomised controlled trials in Brazil, South Africa, and the UK. Lancet (London, England) 2021;397:99–111. eng.
- [46] Baden LR, El Sahly HM, Essink B, Kotloff K, Frey S, Novak R, et al. Efficacy and Safety of the mRNA-1273 SARS-CoV-2 Vaccine. New England J Med 2021;384 (5):403–16.
- [47] Comirnaty SmPC. BioNTech Manufacturing GmbH. Comirnaty SmPC. European Medicines Agency website. [Internet] [updated 2021; cited July

2021]. Available from: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/product-information/comirnaty-epar-product-information_en.pdf.

- [48] Vaxzevria SmPC. AstraZeneca AB. Vaxzevria SmPC. European Medicines Agency website. [Internet] [updated 2021; cited July 2021]. Available from: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/product-information/vaxzevriapreviously-covid-19-vaccine-astrazeneca-epar-product-information_en.pdf.
- [49] Spikevax SmPC. Moderna Biotech Spain S.L. Spikevax SmPC. European Medicines Agency website. [Internet] [updated 2021; cited July 2021]. Available from: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/productinformation/spikevax-previously-covid-19-vaccine-moderna-epar-productinformation_en.pdf.
- [50] COVID-19 Vaccine Janssen SmPC. Janssen-Cilag International NV. COVID-19 Vaccine Janssen SmPC. European Medicines Agency website. [Internet] [updated 2021; cited July 2021]. Available from: https://www.ema.europa. eu/en/documents/product-information/covid-19-vaccine-janssen-eparproduct-information_en.pdf.
- [51] U.S Food and Drug Administration. Coronavirus (COVID-19) Update: FDA Authorizes Second Booster Dose of Two COVID-19 Vaccines for Older and Immunocompromised Individuals [Internet] [updated 2022 Mar 29]. Available from: https://www.fda.gov/news-events/pressannouncements/coronavirus-covid-19-update-fda-authorizes-secondbooster-dose-two-covid-19-vaccines-older-and.
- [52] Sun J, Zheng Q, Madhira V, Olex AL, Anzalone AJ, Vinson A, et al. Association Between Immune Dysfunction and COVID-19 Breakthrough Infection After SARS-CoV-2 Vaccination in the US. JAMA Intern Med 2022;182(2):153. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2021.7024</u>.
- [53] Schmidt AL, Labaki C, Hsu C-Y, Bakouny Z, Balanchivadze N, Berg SA, et al. COVID-19 vaccination and breakthrough infections in patients with cancer. Ann Oncol 2022;33(3):340–6.
- [54] Galmiche S, Luong Nguyen LB, Tartour E, de Lamballerie X, Wittkop L, Loubet P, et al. Immunological and clinical efficacy of COVID-19 vaccines in immunocompromised populations: a systematic review. Clin Microbiol Infect 2022;28(2):163–77.
- [55] Massarweh A, Eliakim-Raz N, Stemmer A, Levy-Barda A, Yust-Katz S, Zer A, et al. Evaluation of Seropositivity Following BNT162b2 Messenger RNA Vaccination for SARS-CoV-2 in Patients Undergoing Treatment for Cancer. JAMA Oncol 2021;7(8):1133. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaoncol.2021.2155</u>.
- [56] National Institutes of Health. Special Considerations in Adults and Children With Cancer [Internet] [cited 2021 Oct 19]. Available from: https:// www.covid19treatmentguidelines.nih.gov/special-populations/cancer/.
- [57] Monin L, Laing AG, Muñoz-Ruiz M, McKenzie DR, del Molino del Barrio I, Alaguthurai T, et al. Safety and immunogenicity of one versus two doses of the COVID-19 vaccine BNT162b2 for patients with cancer, Interim analysis of a prospective observational study. Lancet Oncol 2021;22(6):765–78.
- [58] Kearns P, Siebert S, Willicombe M, Gaskell C, Kirkham A, Pirrie S, et al. Examining the Immunological Effects of COVID-19 Vaccination in Patients [Internet]. Lancet Preprint [cited 2021]. Available from: https://papers. ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3910058.
- [59] Oosting SF, van der Veldt AAM, GeurtsvanKessel CH, Fehrmann RSN, van Binnendijk RS, Dingemans A-M, et al. mRNA-1273 COVID-19 vaccination in patients receiving chemotherapy, immunotherapy, or chemoimmunotherapy for solid tumours: a prospective, multicentre, non-inferiority trial. Lancet Oncol 2021;22(12):1681-91.
- [60] Fendler A, Shepherd STC, Au L, Wilkinson KA, Wu M, Byrne F, et al. Adaptive immunity and neutralizing antibodies against SARS-CoV-2 variants of concern following vaccination in patients with cancer, The CAPTURE study. Nature Cancer 2021;2:1321–37. eng.
- [61] Parry H, Mcllroy G, Bruton R, Damery S, Tyson G, Logan N, et al. Impaired neutralisation of SARS-CoV-2 delta variant in vaccinated patients with B cell chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. J Hematol Oncol 2022;15(1). <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s13045-021-01219-7</u>.
- [62] Agha M, Blake M, Chilleo C, Wells A, Haidar G. Suboptimal response to COVID-19 mRNA vaccines in hematologic malignancies patients [Internet]. medRxiv [cited 2021 Oct 19]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/ articles/PMC8043479/.
- [63] Harrington P, Doores KJ, Radia D, O'Reilly A, Lam HPJ, Seow J, et al. Single dose of BNT162b2 mRNA vaccine against severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) induces neutralising antibody and polyfunctional T-cell responses in patients with chronic myeloid leukaemia. Br J Haematol 2021;194(6):999–1006.
- [64] Maneikis K, Šablauskas K, Ringelevičiūtė U, Vaitekėnaitė V, Čekauskienė R, Kryžauskaitė L, et al. Immunogenicity of the BNT162b2 COVID-19 mRNA vaccine and early clinical outcomes in patients with haematological malignancies in Lithuania: a national prospective cohort study. Lancet Haematol 2021;8(8):e583–92. eng.
- [65] Pulliam JRC, van Schalkwyk C, Govender N, Gottberg AV, Cohen C, Groome MJ, et al. Increased risk of SARS-CoV-2 reinfection associated with emergence of Omicron in South Africa. Science (New York, N.Y.). 2022:eabn4947. eng.
- [66] GISAID. Tracking of Variants [Internet]. Available from: https://www.gisaid. org/hcov19-variants/.
- [67] Nemet I, Kliker L, Lustig Y, Zuckerman N, Erster O, Cohen C, et al. Third BNT162b2 Vaccination Neutralization of SARS-CoV-2 Omicron Infection. New England J Med. eng.
- [68] Zeng C, Evans JP, Chakravarthy K, Qu P, Reisinger S, Song N-J, et al. COVID-19 mRNA booster vaccines elicit strong protection against SARS-CoV-2 Omicron variant in patients with cancer. Cancer Cell 2022;40(2):117–9.

- [69] Storti P, Marchica V, Vescovini R, Franceschi V, Russo L, Raimondi V, et al. Impact of Omicron variant on the response to SARS-CoV-2 mRNA Vaccination in multiple myeloma. medRxiv 2022.
- [70] Eckerle I, Rosenberger KD, Zwahlen M, Junghanss T. Serologic vaccination response after solid organ transplantation, A systematic review. PloS One 2013;8(2):e56974. eng.
- [71] Boyarsky BJ, Werbel WA, Avery RK, Tobian AAR, Massie AB, Segev DL, et al. Immunogenicity of a Single Dose of SARS-CoV-2 Messenger RNA Vaccine in Solid Organ Transplant Recipients. JAMA 2021;325(17):1784. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1001/jama.2021.4385</u>.
- [72] Rabinowich L, Grupper A, Baruch R, Ben-Yehoyada M, Halperin T, Turner D, et al. Low immunogenicity to SARS-CoV-2 vaccination among liver transplant recipients. J Hepatol 2021;75(2):435–8.
- [73] Rashidi-Alavijeh J, Frey A, Passenberg M, Korth J, Zmudzinski J, Anastasiou OE, et al. Humoral Response to SARS-Cov-2 Vaccination in Liver Transplant Recipients-A Single-Center Experience. Vaccines 2021;9(7):738. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines9070738</u>.
- [74] Stumpf J, Siepmann T, Lindner T, Karger C, Schwöbel J, Anders L, et al. Humoral and cellular immunity to SARS-CoV-2 vaccination in renal transplant versus dialysis patients, A prospective, multicenter observational study using mRNA-1273 or BNT162b2 mRNA vaccine. The Lancet regional health. Europe 2021;9:100178. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. lanepe.2021.100178.</u>
- [75] Korth J, Jahn M, Dorsch O, Anastasiou OE, Sorge-Hädicke B, Eisenberger U, et al. Impaired Humoral Response in Renal Transplant Recipients to SARS-CoV-2 Vaccination with BNT162b2 (Pfizer-BioNTech). Viruses 2021;13 (5):756. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/v13050756</u>.
- [76] Grupper A, Rabinowich L, Schwartz D, Schwartz IF, Ben-Yehoyada M, Shashar M, et al. Reduced humoral response to mRNA SARS-CoV-2 BNT162b2 vaccine in kidney transplant recipients without prior exposure to the virus. Am J Transplant 2021;21(8):2719–26.
- [77] Peled Y, Ram E, Lavee J, Sternik L, Segev A, Wieder-Finesod A, et al. BNT162b2 vaccination in heart transplant recipients: Clinical experience and antibody response. J Heart Lung Transplant 2021;40(8):759–62.
- [78] Shostak Y, Shafran N, Heching M, Rosengarten D, Shtraichman O, Shitenberg D, et al. Early humoral response among lung transplant recipients vaccinated with BNT162b2 vaccine. Lancet Respir Med 2021;9(6):e52–3.
- [79] Cotugno N, Pighi C, Morrocchi E, Ruggiero A, Amodio D, Medri C, et al. BNT162B2 mRNA COVID-19 Vaccine in Heart and Lung Transplanted Young Adults, Is an Alternative SARS-CoV-2 Immune Response Surveillance Needed? Transplantation 2022;106(2):e158–60.
- [80] Grupper A, Katchman E, Ben-Yehoyada M, Rabinowich L, Schwartz D, Schwartz IF, et al. Kidney transplant recipients vaccinated before transplantation maintain superior humoral response to SARS-CoV-2 vaccine. Clin Transplant 2021;35(12). <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ctr. v35.1210.1111/ctr.14478</u>.
- [81] Kamar N, Abravanel F, Marion O, Couat C, Izopet J, Del Bello A. Three Doses of an mRNA Covid-19 Vaccine in Solid-Organ Transplant Recipients. N Engl J Med 2021;385(7):661–2.
- [82] Del Bello A, Abravanel F, Marion O, Couat C, Esposito L, Lavayssière L, et al. Efficiency of a boost with a third dose of anti-SARS-CoV-2 messenger RNAbased vaccines in solid organ transplant recipients. Am J Transplant 2022;22 (1):322–3.
- [83] Hall VG, Ferreira VH, Ku T, Ierullo M, Majchrzak-Kita B, Chaparro C, et al. Randomized Trial of a Third Dose of mRNA-1273 Vaccine in Transplant Recipients. New England J Med 2021;385(13):1244–6.
- [84] Stumpf J, Tonnus W, Paliege A, Rettig R, Steglich A, Gembardt F, et al. Cellular and Humoral Immune Responses After 3 Doses of BNT162b2 mRNA SARS-CoV-2 Vaccine in Kidney Transplant. Transplantation 2021;105(11):e267–9.
- [85] Masset C, Kerleau C, Garandeau C, Ville S, Cantarovich D, Hourmant M, et al. A third injection of the BNT162b2 mRNA COVID-19 vaccine in kidney transplant recipients improves the humoral immune response. Kidney Int 2021;100(5):1132–5.
- [86] Toniutto P, Aghemo A, Grossi P, Burra P, Carrai P, Donato MF, et al. Clinical update on the efficacy of anti-SARS-CoV-2 mRNA vaccines in patients on the waiting list for liver transplantation and in liver transplant recipients. Digestive Liver Disease 2021;53(10):1232–4.
- [87] Ou MT, Boyarsky BJ, Motter JD, Greenberg RS, Teles AT, Ruddy JA, et al. Safety and Reactogenicity of 2 Doses of SARS-CoV-2 Vaccination in Solid Organ Transplant Recipients. Transplantation 2021;105(10):2170–4.
- [88] Nault L, Marchitto L, Goyette G, Tremblay-Sher D, Fortin C, Martel-Laferrière V, et al. Covid-19 vaccine immunogenicity in people living with HIV-1 [Internet]. bioRxiv [cited October 2021].
- [89] Lombardi A, Butta GM, Donnici L, Bozzi G, Oggioni M, Bono P, et al. Anti-spike antibodies and neutralising antibody activity in people living with HIV vaccinated with COVID-19 mRNA-1273 vaccine, A prospective single-centre cohort study. The Lancet regional health. Europe 2022;13:100287. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.lanepe.2021.100287</u>.
- [90] European Medicines Agency. Nuvaxovid. Summary of Product Characteristics. [Internet]. Available from: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/ product-information/nuvaxovid-epar-product-information_en.pdf.
- [91] Shinde V, Bhikha S, Hoosain Z, Archary M, Bhorat Q, Fairlie L, et al. Efficacy of NVX-CoV2373 Covid-19 Vaccine against the B.1.351 Variant. New England J Med 2021;384(20):1899–909.
- [92] Deepak P, Kim W, Paley MA, Yang M, Carvidi AB, El-Qunni AA, et al. Glucocorticoids and B Cell Depleting Agents Substantially Impair

Immunogenicity of mRNA Vaccines to SARS-CoV-2 [Internet]. medRxiv [Preprint] [cited 2021 Oct 19]. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/33851176/.

- [93] Haberman RH, Herati RS, Simon D, Samanovic M, Blank RB, Tuen M, et al. Methotrexate Hampers Immunogenicity to BNT162b2 mRNA COVID-19 Vaccine in Immune-Mediated Inflammatory Disease. medRxiv: the preprint server for health sciences. 2021. eng.
- [94] Kennedy NA, Lin S, Goodhand JR, Chanchlani N, Hamilton B, Bewshea C, et al. Infliximab is associated with attenuated immunogenicity to BNT162b2 and ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 SARS-CoV-2 vaccines in patients with IBD. Gut 2021;70 (10):1884–93.
- [95] Moor MB, Suter-Riniker F, Horn MP, Aeberli D, Amsler J, Möller B, et al. Humoral and cellular responses to mRNA vaccines against SARS-CoV-2 in patients with a history of CD20 B-cell-depleting therapy (RituxiVac), An investigator-initiated, single-centre, open-label study. Lancet Rheumatol 2021. eng.
- [96] Bonelli MM, Mrak D, Perkmann T, Haslacher H, Aletaha D. SARS-CoV-2 vaccination in rituximab-treated patients, Evidence for impaired humoral but inducible cellular immune response. Ann Rheum Dis 2021;80(10):1355–6. eng.
- [97] Furer V, Eviatar T, Zisman D, Peleg H, Paran D, Levartovsky D, et al. Immunogenicity and safety of the BNT162b2 mRNA COVID-19 vaccine in adult patients with autoimmune inflammatory rheumatic diseases and in the general population: a multicentre study. Ann Rheum Dis 2021;80 (10):1330–8.
- [98] Seror R, Camus M, Salmon J-H, Roux C, Dernis E, Basch A, et al. Do JAK inhibitors affect immune response to COVID-19 vaccination? Data from the MAJIK-SFR Registry. Lancet Rheumatol 2022;4(1):e8–e11.
- [99] Boekel L, Kummer LY, van Dam KPJ, Hooijberg F, van Kempen Z, Vogelzang EH, et al. Adverse events after first COVID-19 vaccination in patients with autoimmune diseases. Lancet Rheumatol 2021;3(8):e542–5.
- [100] Sobh A, Bonilla FA. Vaccination in Primary Immunodeficiency Disorders. The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology. Practice 2016;4(6):1066–75. eng.
- [101] Hagin D, Freund T, Navon M, Halperin T, Adir D, Marom R, et al. Immunogenicity of Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 vaccine in patients with inborn errors of immunity. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2021;148(3):739–49.
- [102] Pham MN, Murugesan K, Banaei N, Pinsky BA, Tang M, Hoyte E, et al. Immunogenicity and tolerability of COVID-19 messenger RNA vaccines in primary immunodeficiency patients with functional B-cell defects. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2022;149(3):907–911.e3.
- [103] Perico L, Benigni A, Casiraghi F, Ng LFP, Renia L, Remuzzi G. Immunity, endothelial injury and complement-induced coagulopathy in COVID-19. Nature reviews. Nephrology 2021;17(1):46–64. eng.
- [104] Li X, Zhong X, Wang Y, Zeng X, Luo T, Liu Q. Clinical determinants of the severity of COVID-19, A systematic review and meta-analysis. PloS One 2021;16(5):e0250602. eng.
- [105] Ssentongo P, Ssentongo AE, Heilbrunn ES, Ba DM, Chinchilli VM. Association of cardiovascular disease and 10 other pre-existing comorbidities with COVID-19 mortality, A systematic review and meta-analysis. PloS One 2020;15(8):e0238215. eng.
- [106] Kremer D, Pieters TT, Verhaar MC, Berger SP, Bakker SJL, Zuilen AD, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of COVID-19 in kidney transplant recipients, Lessons to be learned. Am J Transplant 2021;21(12):3936–45.
- [107] Nopsopon T, Kittrakulrat J, Takkavatakarn K, Eiamsitrakoon T, Kanjanabuch T, Pongpirul K. Covid-19 in end-stage renal disease patients with renal replacement therapies, A systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS Neglected Tropical Dis 2021;15(6):e0009156. eng.
 [108] Menon T, Gandhi SAQ, Tariq W, Sharma R, Sardar S, Arshad AM, et al. Impact
- [108] Menon T, Gandhi SAQ, Tariq W, Sharma R, Sardar S, Arshad AM, et al. Impact of Chronic Kidney Disease on Severity and Mortality in COVID-19 Patients, A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Cureus 2021;13(4):e14279. eng.
 [109] Singh J, Malik P, Patel N, Pothuru S, Israni A, Chakinala RC, et al. Kidney
- [109] Singh J, Malik P, Patel N, Pothuru S, Israni A, Chakinala RC, et al. Kidney disease and COVID-19 disease severity-systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Exp Med 2022;22(1):125–35.
- [110] Gasparini M, Khan S, Patel JM, Parekh D, Bangash MN, Stömpfle R, et al. Renal impairment and its impact on clinical outcomes in patients who are critically ill with COVID-19, A multicentre observational study. Anaesthesia 2021;76 (3):320-6.
- [111] Ng JH, Hirsch JS, Wanchoo R, Sachdeva M, Sakhiya V, Hong S, et al. Outcomes of patients with end-stage kidney disease hospitalized with COVID-19. Kidney Int 2020;98(6):1530–9.
- [112] Francis A, Baigent C, Ikizler TA, Cockwell P, Jha V. The urgent need to vaccinate dialysis patients against severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2, A call to action. Kidney Int 2021;99(4):791–3. eng.
- [113] Flythe JE, Assimon MM, Tugman MJ, Chang EH, Gupta S, Shah J, et al. Characteristics and Outcomes of Individuals With Pre-existing Kidney Disease and COVID-19 Admitted to Intensive Care Units in the United States. Am J Kidney Dis: Off J Nat Kidney Found 2021;77(2):190-203.e1. eng.
- [114] Leon-Abarca JA, Memon RS, Rehan B, Iftikhar M, Chatterjee A. The impact of COVID-19 in diabetic kidney disease and chronic kidney disease, A population-based study. Acta bio-medica: Atenei Parmensis. 2020;91(4): e2020161. eng.
- [115] Chronic kidney disease is a key risk factor for severe COVID-19, A call to action by the ERA-EDTA. Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation: official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association - European Renal Association 2021;36(1):87–94. eng.

- [116] Kronbichler A, Gauckler P, Windpessl M, Il Shin J, Jha V, Rovin BH, et al. COVID-19, Implications for immunosuppression in kidney disease and transplantation. Nature reviews. Nephrology 2020;16(7):365–7.
- [117] Dávila-Collado R, Jarquín-Durán O, Solís-Vallejo A, Nguyen MA, Espinoza JL. Elevated Monocyte to Lymphocyte Ratio and Increased Mortality among Patients with Chronic Kidney Disease Hospitalized for COVID-19. J Personalized Med 2021;11(3):eng.
- [118] Roberto P, Francesco L, Emanuela C, Giorgia G, Pasquale N, Sara D. Current treatment of COVID-19 in renal patients, Hope or hype? Intern Emerg Med 2020;15(8):1389–98. eng.
- [119] Goupil R, Benlarbi M, Beaubien-Souligny W, Nadeau-Fredette A-C, Chatterjee D, Goyette G, et al. Short-term antibody response after 1 dose of BNT162b2 vaccine in patients receiving hemodialysis. CMAJ: Can Med Assoc J = journal de l'Association medicale canadienne 2021;193(22):E793–800.
- [120] Zitt E, Davidovic T, Schimpf J, Abbassi-Nik A, Mutschlechner B, Ulmer H, et al. The Safety and Immunogenicity of the mRNA-BNT162b2 SARS-CoV-2 Vaccine in Hemodialysis Patients. Front Immunol 2021;12:704773. eng.
- [121] Garcia P, Anand S, Han J, Montez-Rath M, Sun S, Shang T, et al. COVID19 vaccine type and humoral immune response in patients receiving dialysis. medRxiv: Preprint Server Health Sci 2021. eng.
- [122] Spensley K, Gleeson S, Martin P, Thomson T, Clarke CL, Pickard G, et al. Comparison of vaccine effectiveness against the Omicron (B.1.1.529) variant in patients receiving haemodialysis. medRxiv [Internet]. Available from: https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2022.01.03.22268649v1.full.pdf.
- [123] Glenn DA, Hegde A, Kotzen E, Walter EB, Kshirsagar AV, Falk R, et al. Systematic Review of Safety and Efficacy of COVID-19 Vaccines in Patients With Kidney Disease. Kidney Int Reports 2021;6(5):1407–10.
- [124] Polewska K, Tylicki P, Biedunkiewicz B, Rucińska A, Szydłowska A, Kubanek A, et al. Safety and Tolerability of the BNT162b2 mRNA COVID-19 Vaccine in Dialyzed Patients. COVINEPH Project Medicina (Kaunas, Lithuania) 2021;57 (7):732. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/medicina57070732</u>.
- [125] Kho MML, Reinders MEJ, Baan CC, van Baarle D, Bemelman FJ, Diavatopoulos DA, et al. The RECOVAC IR study, The immune response and safety of the mRNA-1273 COVID-19 vaccine in patients with chronic kidney disease, on dialysis, or living with a kidney transplant a prospective, controlled, multicenter observational cohort by the REnal patients COVID-19 VACcination (RECOVAC) consortium COVID-19 VACcination (RECOVAC) consortium. Nephrol, Dialysis, Transplant: Official Publication Europ Dialysis Transplant Assoc Europ Renal Assoc 2021. eng.
- [126] Sharma A, Jaiswal P, Kerakhan Y, Saravanan L, Murtaza Z, Zergham A, et al. Liver disease and outcomes among COVID-19 hospitalized patients - A systematic review and meta-analysis. Ann Hepatol 2021;21:100273. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1016/i.aohep.2020.10.001</u>.
- [127] Sarin SK, Choudhury A, Lau GK, Zheng M-H, Ji D, Abd-Elsalam S, et al. Preexisting liver disease is associated with poor outcome in patients with SARS CoV2 infection; The APCOLIS Study (APASL COVID-19 Liver Injury Spectrum Study). Hep Intl 2020;14(5):690–700.
- [128] Hashemi N, Viveiros K, Redd WD, Zhou JC, McCarty TR, Bazarbashi AN, et al. Impact of chronic liver disease on outcomes of hospitalized patients with COVID-19: A multicentre United States experience. Liver Int 2020;40 (10):2515–21.
- [129] Singh S, Khan A. Clinical Characteristics and Outcomes of Coronavirus Disease 2019 Among Patients With Preexisting Liver Disease in the United States, A Multicenter Research Network Study. Gastroenterology 2020;159 (2):768–771.e3. eng.
- [130] Wang QuanQiu, Davis PB, Xu R. COVID-19 risk, disparities and outcomes in patients with chronic liver disease in the United States. EClinicalMedicine 2021;31:100688. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/i.eclinm.2020.100688</u>.
- [131] Marjot T, Moon AM, Cook JA, Abd-Elsalam S, Aloman C, Armstrong MJ, et al. Outcomes following SARS-CoV-2 infection in patients with chronic liver disease, An international registry study. J Hepatol 2021;74(3):567–77.
- [132] Bajaj JS, Garcia-Tsao G, Biggins SW, Kamath PS, Wong F, McGeorge S, et al. Comparison of mortality risk in patients with cirrhosis and COVID-19 compared with patients with cirrhosis alone and COVID-19 alone, Multicentre matched cohort. Gut 2021;70(3):531–6.
- [133] Ji D, Qin E, Xu J, Zhang D, Cheng G, Wang Y, et al. Non-alcoholic fatty liver diseases in patients with COVID-19, A retrospective study. J Hepatol 2020;73 (2):451–3. eng.
- [134] Bramante C, Tignanelli CJ, Dutta N, Jones E, Tamariz L, Clark JM, et al. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) and risk of hospitalization for Covid-19 [Internet]. medRxiv [Preprint] [cited 2021 Oct 19]. Available from: https:// pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32909011/.
- [135] Saviano A, Wrensch F, Ghany MG, Baumert TF. Liver Disease and Coronavirus Disease 2019, From Pathogenesis to Clinical Care. Hepatol (Baltimore, MD) 2021;74(2):1088–100.
- [136] Herta T, Petroff D, Engelmann C, Herber A, Aehling N, Scheuermann U, et al. Hepatitis B Vaccination in Patients with Liver Cirrhosis Evaluated for Liver Transplantation - A Simple Intervention Ensures High Adherence. Ann Transplant 2019;24:527–31.
- [137] John BV, Deng Y, Scheinberg A, Mahmud N, Taddei TH, Kaplan D, et al. Association of BNT162b2 mRNA and mRNA-1273 Vaccines With COVID-19 Infection and Hospitalization Among Patients With Cirrhosis. JAMA Int Med 2021;181(10):1306. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2021.4325</u>.
- [138] Cornberg M, Buti M, Eberhardt CS, Grossi PA, Shouval D. EASL position paper on the use of COVID-19 vaccines in patients with chronic liver diseases,

hepatobiliary cancer and liver transplant recipients. J Hepatol 2021;74 (4):944–51. eng.

- [139] European Association for the Study of the Liver. EASL policy statement on the use of COVID-19 vaccines in people with chronic liver disease, hepatobiliary cancer, and liver transplant recipients [Internet] [cited 2021 Oct 19]. Available from: https://easl.eu/news/covid-19-vaccine-policy/.
- [140] Targher G, Mantovani A, Byrne CD, Wang X-B, Yan H-D, Sun Q-F, et al. Detrimental effects of metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease and increased neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio on severity of COVID-19. Diabetes Metabolism 2020;46(6):505–7.
- [141] Diaz Piga, Luisa, et al. Vaccination against COVID-19 decreases hospitalizations in patients with cirrhosis: results from a nationwide analysis, Abstract 39 [Internet]: American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases.
- [142] Binu, John, et al. Outcomes of post-vaccination COVID-19 after full or partial vaccination in patients with cirrhosis, Abstract 7 [Internet]. The Liver Meeting Conference: American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases.
- [143] Hakimian D, Amer J, Shafrir A, et al. Elderly with advanced liver fibrosis had lower response to Pfizer's SARS-CoV-2 vaccine [Internet]. EASL International Liver Congress [cited October 2021]. Available from: https://www.natap.org/ 2021/EASL/EASL_76.htm.
- [144] American Society of Hematology. General Principles of COVID-19 Vaccines for Immunocompromised Patients [Internet] [cited 2021]. Available from: https://www.hematology.org/covid-19/ash-astct-covid-19-and-vaccines.
- [145] Sadoff J, Gray G, Vandebosch An, Cárdenas V, Shukarev G, Grinsztejn B, et al. Safety and Efficacy of Single-Dose Ad26.COV2.S Vaccine against Covid-19. New England J Med 2021;384(23):2187–201.
- [146] Carr EJ, Kronbichler A, Graham-Brown M, Abra G, Argyropoulos C, Harper L, et al. Review of Early Immune Response to SARS-CoV-2 Vaccination Among Patients With CKD. Kidney Int Reports 2021;6(9):2292–304.
- [147] US Food and Drug Administration. Moderna Fact Sheet for Healthcare Providers [Internet] [updated 2022 Jan 7]. Available from: https://www. fda.gov/media/144637/download.
- [148] US Food and Drug Administration. Pfizer-BioNTech Fact Sheet for Healthcare Providers [Internet] [updated 2022 Jan 3]. Available from: https://www. fda.gov/media/153713/download.
- [149] Stuart ASV, Shaw RH, Liu X, Greenland M, Aley PK, Andrews NJ, et al. Immunogenicity, safety, and reactogenicity of heterologous COVID-19 primary vaccination incorporating mRNA, viral-vector, and proteinadjuvant vaccines in the UK (Com-COV2): a single-blind, randomised, phase 2, non-inferiority trial. The Lancet 2022;399(10319):36–49.
- [150] Danziger-Isakov L, Kumar D. Vaccination of solid organ transplant candidates and recipients, Guidelines from the American society of transplantation infectious diseases community of practice. Clin Transplant 2019;33(9). https://doi.org/10.1111/ctr.v33.910.1111/ctr.13563.

- [151] Dadashi M, Khaleghnejad S, Abedi Elkhichi P, Goudarzi M, Goudarzi H, Taghavi A, et al. COVID-19 and Influenza Co-infection, A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Front Med 2021;8:681469. eng.
- [152] Meena JP, Kumar Gupta A, Tanwar P, Ram Jat K, Mohan Pandey R, Seth R. Clinical presentations and outcomes of children with cancer and COVID-19, A systematic review. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2021;68(6):eng.
- [153] American College of Rheumatology. COVID-19 Vaccine Clinical Guidance Summary for Patients with Rheumatic and Musculoskeletal Diseases [Internet] [updated 2021 Dec 15]. Available from: https://www. rheumatology.org/Portals/0/Files/COVID-19-Vaccine-Clinical-Guidance-Rheumatic-Diseases-Summary.pdf.
- [154] European Alliance of Associations for Rheumatology. EULAR View-points on SARS-CoV-2 vaccination in patients with RMDs [Internet] [updated December 2021]. Available from: https://www.eular.org/eular_sars_cov_ 2_vaccination_rmd_patients.cfm.
- [155] Amodio D, Ruggiero A, Sgrulletti M, Pighi C, Cotugno N, Medri C, et al. Humoral and Cellular Response Following Vaccination With the BNT162b2 mRNA COVID-19 Vaccine in Patients Affected by Primary Immunodeficiencies. Front Immunol 2021;12:727850. eng.
- [156] Kotaki R, Adachi Yu, Moriyama S, Onodera T, Fukushi S, Nagakura T, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Omicron-neutralizing memory B-cells are elicited by two doses of BNT162b2 mRNA vaccine. Sci Immunol 2022;7(70). <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1126/sciimmunol.abn8590</u>.
- [157] Sahin U, Muik A, Vogler I, Derhovanessian E, Kranz LM, Vormehr M, et al. BNT162b2 vaccine induces neutralizing antibodies and poly-specific T cells in humans. Nature 2021;595(7868):572–7.
- [158] Otto SP, Day T, Arino J, Colijn C, Dushoff J, Li M, et al. The origins and potential future of SARS-CoV-2 variants of concern in the evolving COVID-19 pandemic. Curr Biol: CB 2021;31(14):R918–29.
- [159] UK Health Security Agency. SARS-CoV-2 variants of concern and variants under investigation in England [Internet]. Available from: https://assets. publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/ attachment_data/file/1043807/technical-briefing-33.pdf.
- [160] Muik A, Lui BG, Wallisch A-K, Bacher M, Mühl J, Reinholz J, et al. Neutralization of SARS-CoV-2 Omicron by BNT162b2 mRNA vaccineelicited human sera. Science 2022;375(6581):678-80.
- [161] Pajon R, Doria-Rose NA, Shen X, Schmidt SD, O'Dell S, McDanal C, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Omicron Variant Neutralization after mRNA-1273 Booster Vaccination. N Engl J Med 2022;386(11):1088–91.
- [162] Clinicaltrials.gov. NCT05004181. Safety and Immunogenicity of a SARS CoV 2 Multivalent RNA Vaccine in Healthy Participants [Internet] [updated 2022 Mar 17]. Available from: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT05004181.
- [163] Clinicaltrials.gov. NCT05249829. A Study to Evaluate the Immunogenicity and Safety of mRNA-1273.529 Vaccine for the COVID-19 Omicron Variant B.1.1.529 [Internet]. Clinicaltrials.gov [updated 2022 Mar 8]. Available from: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT05249829.